Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

International Journal of Infectious Diseases

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ijid





New tuberculosis drug leads from naturally occurring compounds



Diana Quan^{a,b}, Gayathri Nagalingam^{a,b}, Richard Payne^c, James A. Triccas^{a,b,d,*}

^a Microbial Pathogenesis and Immunity Group, Department of Infectious Diseases and Immunology, Sydney Medical School, The University of Sydney, NSW, Australia

^b Tuberculosis Research Program, Centenary Institute, The University of Sydney, NSW, Australia

^c School of Chemistry, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

^d Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Diseases and Biosecurity, The University of Sydney, NSW, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

SUMMARY

Article history: Received 11 November 2016 Received in revised form 21 December 2016 Accepted 22 December 2016 Corresponding Editor: Eskild Petersen, Aarhus, Denmark

Keywords: tuberculosis natural product drug development clinical trial

Contents

Tuberculosis (TB) continues to be a significant cause of mortality and morbidity worldwide. An estimated 2 billion individuals are infected with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and annually there are approximately 10 million new cases of clinical TB and 1.5 million deaths. Currently available drugs and vaccines have had no significant impact on TB control. In addition, the emergence of drug resistant TB is considered a public health crisis, with some strains now resistant to all available drugs. Unfortunately, the growing burden of antibiotic resistance is coupled with decreased effort in the development of new antibiotics. Natural sources are attractive starting points in the search for anti-tubercular drugs because they are extremely rich in chemical diversity and have privileged antimicrobial activity. This review will discuss recent advances in the development of TB drug leads from natural products, with a particular focus on antimycobacterial compounds in late-stage preclinical and clinical development.

© 2016 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd on behalf of International Society for Infectious Diseases. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/bync-nd/4.0/).

Emergent drug-resistant tuberculosis	212
Natural products as new treatments for TB	213
Phenazines	213
Piperidines	
Mycins	215
Quinolones	216
Antimicrobial peptides	217
AMPs- Inhibition of cell wall biosynthesis	217
AMPs-Inhibition of proteolysis	
AMPs- Inhibiting DNA replication pathway	217
Other AMPs	217
Conclusions	217
Conflict of interest statement	
Acknowledgements	218
References	

Emergent drug-resistant tuberculosis

The spread of drug resistant TB is a major threat to global TB control. These strains are now entrenched in most countries and

are spreading at an alarming rate. Multi-drug resistant (MDR) TB isolates are resistant to isoniazid (INH) and rifampicin, the two frontline drugs for TB treatment, and have been detected in every country surveyed. In 2015 there were an estimated 480,000 new cases of MDR-TB, however only 50% of patients on MDR-TB treatment were successfully treated.¹ This means hundreds of people worldwide are thousands of going untreated

Corresponding author.

E-mail address: jamie.triccas@sydney.edu.au (J.A. Triccas).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2016.12.024



Review

^{1201-9712/© 2016} The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd on behalf of International Society for Infectious Diseases. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

and continuing to spread drug resistant forms of the disease. Extensively drug-resistant (XDR) TB strains, first detected in 2006, are resistant to front-line and second-line anti-tubercular antibiotics. XDR-TB is now present in over 100 countries and represents approximately 10% of MDR-TB cases.¹ Delayed diagnosis and inappropriate treatment leads to multiplication of resistance; this is best highlighted by the alarming emergence of totally drug resistant (TDR) TB, which is essentially untreatable using current drugs.² In addition. TB treatment is long: standard treatment for drug sensitive strains is 6 to 12 months, while patients with drug resistant TB must endure a longer course of treatment (24 months or longer) with harsh side effects, high cost and a low chance of cure. The combination of long treatment and side effects results in poor compliance, which is a major contributor to the development of resistance. Thus it is evident that current methods of treatment and control for TB are not sustainable in the face of highly drug resistant TB; there is an obvious and urgent need for the development of new TB drugs that are effective against drug resistant M. tuberculosis strains, as well as strategies to reduce duration of treatment regimens.

Natural products as new treatments for TB

The search for new anti-TB agents has been slow; the last major anti-TB drug to be licensed for human use was rifampicin in 1963. Since that time a handful of compounds have entered human trials, and encouragingly two compounds, bedaquiline and delamanid, have recently received fast-tracked approval for use against MDR-TB.³ However both drugs are associated with side-effects and are only recommended for those without other treatment options. Considering the restrictions on bedaquiline use, and the fact that XDR and TDR strains cannot be adequately treated with currently available antibiotics, many more compounds must enter the TB drug development 'pipeline' in order to adequately combat the TB problem. New anti-TB compounds must overcome the issues with current treatments (Table 1). The ideal anti-TB drug must display high potency, particularly against drug-resistant strains, and possess an adequate safety profile. In addition drugs should be active against latent and replicating forms of M. tuberculosis and have limited drug/drug interactions, particularly with antiretroviral agents.

In recent years the field of drug discovery has focused on targetbased and genetics-driven approaches to identify new antibiotics. However, this strategy has not been overly successful, as inhibition of enzyme activity often does not correlate with killing of whole bacteria.⁴ Large high-throughput (HTS) screening programs have also been employed with a view to rapidly elucidate 'hit' molecules. However, these studies have been typically performed using small molecule 'corporate' chemical libraries that are relatively limited in diversity. Furthermore, antibacterials that are successful in the clinic do not generally follow Lipinski's 'rule of five' for drug likeness, while most corporate compound collections are heavily biased towards such compounds.⁴ A review of HTS campaigns by Novartis revealed that natural products were the most diverse compound class tested, with significantly higher hit rates compared to the compounds sourced from synthetic and combinatorial libraries.⁵ Indeed, in recent years there has been renewed interest in the use of natural products, due to the wide range of pharmacophores and a high degree of stereochemistry, and therefore three-dimensionality that natural products possess.⁶ Identification of bioactive molecules from natural sources involves a defined series of steps to characterize/synthesize the products of interest (Figure 1). In addition, natural products are often bioactive molecules that may display high degrees of bioavailability, thus increasing their capacity to access their site of action within target cells.

The remainder of this review focuses on recent advances in the identification of natural products as anti-mycobacterial agents and potential TB drug leads. We will focus predominately on natural products, their derivatives and 'nature-inspired' compounds that have entered lead optimization and pre-clinical development stages, as well as products that have entered clinical trials (Figure 2). We have kept the definition of natural products relatively broad in order to include the major TB drug candidates in development, with a focus on 5 major compound classes.

Phenazines

Phenazines are a diverse class of aromatic compounds produced both synthetically in the dye industry as well as biosynthetically by many species of the Actinobacteria phylum.⁷ As biological molecules, phenazines are involved in redox reactions as well as competitive and symbiotic interactions.^{8,9} The role of phenazines as inhibitory molecules translates to broad-spectrum antibiotic activity against bacteria and fungi. Antifungal phenazines were first isolated from *Pseudomonas fluorescens*¹⁰ and since then, novel phenazines have been synthesised as potential antitumour drugs¹¹ as well as antibiotics.¹² **Riminophenazines** are currently under re-investigation as lead compounds for TB treatment. Historically derived from lichens, riminophenazines were developed decades ago as potential TB drugs.¹³ Recent years have revived interest in this class of compounds due to the antitubercular activity of clofazimine. Several chemical series of novel riminophenazine derivatives have been synthesised and evaluated for lead development, aiming to improve activity and reduce lipophilicity.¹⁴

Clofazimine is a riminophenazine originally discovered in 1954 through structural modifications of diploicin, extracted from *Buellia canescens*.¹⁵ While development of clofazimine for TB treatment was delayed by studies showing inactivity in guinea pig and monkey models,¹⁶ it is currently used as a WHO group five drug for MDR-TB.¹⁷ This is due to a reassessment of clofazimine as a TB drug, which discovered that when used in combination with gatifloxacin, ethambutol, pyrazinamide, prothionamide, kanamycin and high-dose isoniazid for 9 months, clofazimine was able to

Table 1

Desired properties of new anti-TB drugs.

Problem with existing therapy	Desired characteristics of new drugs
Lengthy treatment High pill burden	Increased capacity to inhibit bacterial growth and shorten treatment time (e.g. <4 month). Lower the number of pills and frequency of doses by using highly potent and bioavailable drugs. Also aim for intermittent treatment.
Expensive	Cheap to make and easily available to the developing world.
Side effects	Less toxic drugs. Intermittent treatment.
Interaction with other drug	Minimal drug-drug interaction with anti-virals, diabetes and non-TB drugs.
Drug resistant <i>M. tuberculosis</i> strains	Novel drugs with new mechanism of action.
Lack of efficacy against latent TB	Active against non-replicating bacteria and work effectively in hypoxic conditions. Drugs that can penetrate granulomas.



Structural Optimisation

Figure 1. Identification of new drugs from natural sources. **A.** Prominent natural sources of bioactive molecules include *Actinomycetes* spp, terrestrial plants and marine species. Sessile organisms produce many secondary metabolites in competition for space and resources which can be exploited for drug development. **B.** Whole organisms or components of interest are subjected to sequential fractioning to identify pure, active samples from which the molecule of interest can be identified. **C.** Bioactive chemical scaffold are identified which can be subject to structure activity relationship studies in order to identify a functional pharmacophore. **D.** Modifications around the functional pharmacophore generate a series of chemical analogues which can be tested for activity and drug-likeness. **E.** As structure optimisation proceeds, derivative products can lead to novel chemical classes and several generations of antibiotics.

treat 88% of MDR-TB patients studied.¹⁸ As a result of this research, investigation of clofazimine's potential to shorten treatment for drug-susceptible TB commenced. Results in mouse models of *M. tuberculosis* infection indicated greater early bactericidal activity and earlier lung. culture conversion (3 months compared to 5 months) in clofazimine-containing first-line treatment.¹⁹ Clofazimine accumulates within cells²⁰ and tissues to high concentrations²¹, leading to undesirable side-effects which researchers seek to minimise.

TBI-166 is a preclinical candidate for TB drug development identified from a series of clofazimine analogues. Initial investigation found TBI-166 to have potent *in vitro* activity against *M. tuberculosis* H37Rvin culture and within macrophages with low cytotoxicity. TBI-166 was effective against drug-resistant clinical isolates of *M. tuberculosis* but not against non-replicating *M. tuberculosis in vitro*. At a dose of 20 mg/kg in *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv-infected mice, TBI-166 resulted in greater than one log₁₀ CFU/mL reduction than the clofazimine control.²² Pharmacokinetic studies in rats and beagle dogs have also been completed, showing TBI-166 to be stable but eliminated slowly from the body. ^{23,24} At this stage it is unclear whether TBI-166 is able to improve upon clofazimine's long half-life and accumulation in body tissues, which leads to one major sideeffect of clofazimine treatment, skin discolouration.

Piperidines

Piperidines are a class of heterocycline amines commonly used as scaffolds for the synthesis of pharmaceutical compounds. They are a derivative of piperine, the alkaloid responsible for the heat in black pepper. When piperine is extracted from pepper fruits and hydrolysed, piperidine is formed.^{25,26} Piperidines can also be extracted from black pepper and have been also found in other plants.²⁷ This class of molecules includes a wide range of drugs such as vasodilators, antipsychotics, neuroleptics and opioids. Of particular interest for the subject of this review are the subclass of dipiperidines, which have been investigated as potential TB drug leads as a result of their identification in high-throughput screening programs.^{28,29} **SQ609** is a preclinical dipiperidine identified by Sequella from a screening program using a library of dipiperidines.³⁰ SQ609 is an adamantine-containing hydroxydipiperidine with potent in vitro activity against M. tuberculosis H37Rv. Testing in mice indicated that SQ609 had prolonged therapeutic effects and was able to prevent TB-induced weight loss after treatment ceased. SQ609 is believed to target cell wall synthesis and has good oral bioavailability.³¹

BTZ043 is a piperidine-containing benzothiazinone currently undergoing GLP toxicity testing before entering Phase I trials.

Lead Optimisation	Early-s Develo	tage GLP pment Toxicit	Phase I	Phase II	Phase III
Lipiarmycin	TBI-166	BTZ-043	Q203	Sutezolid	Rifapentine/Moxifloxacin for DS-TB
Rotenone	CP-ZEN-45	TBA-7371	PBTZ169	Linezolid EBA	
Thiolactomycin	SQ609	TBA-354		High Dose Rifapentine for DS-TB	Delamanid with OBR for MDR-TB
Aminopyridines	SQ641	GSK-070		Bodomiline (Protomonid (Pretomanid/Moxifloxacin/ Pyrazinamide
Indoles	1599			Pyrazinamide	
Macrolides	DC-159a			Levofloxacin with OBR for	Bedaquiline/Pyrazinamide /Linezolid
Pyrazinamide Analogues	Q201				Bedaquiline/STREAM with
Antimicrobial	SPR-10199				OBR
Peptides					Bedaquiline/Linezolid with
Imidazoles		Chemical Class:			OBR TOF WIDR-TB
Riminophenazines		Quinolones	Imidazoles	Oxaborole	
		Phenazines	Indoles	Oxazolidinones	
		Mycins	Macrolides	Antimicrobial Peptides	
		Piperidines	Nicotinamide	Rotenoids	

Figure 2. Lead compounds currently in development for the treatment of TB are shown with chemical classes. Adapted from WHO Global Tuberculosis Report 2016. DS-TB: drug-sensitive tuberculosis; MDR-TB: multi-drug resistant tuberculosis; OBR: Optimized Background Regimen; STREAM: Standardized Treatment Regimen of Anti-Tuberculosis Drugs for Patients with MDR-TB.

Discovered through a screen of sulfur-containing heterocycles against M. smegmatis, M. aurum, M. vaccae and M. fortuitum in vitro,³² BTZ403 has been found to be active against all tested clinical isolates of *M. tuberculosis* including MDR and XDR strains.³ BTZ043 inhibits DprE1, a key enzyme in the arabinogalactan and arabinomannan synthesis pathway.³⁴ It has been found to work synergistically with bedaquiline, pretomanid, moxifloxacin, meropenem and SQ-109 in vitro to inhibit M. tuberculosis H37Rv.³⁴ PBTZ169 is a derivative of BTZ043 developed by iM4TB and undergoing Phase I clinical trials in Russia. PBTZ169 interacts with the same active site residues in DprE1 as BTZ403. However, in comparison to BTZ403, PBTZ169 has improved potency, safety and efficacy in mouse models of TB. Combination treatment with PBTZ169, bedaguiline and pyrazinamide was found to be more effective than standard isoniazid, rifampicin and pyrazinamide treatment for two months in mice.³² PBTZ169 has also been found to work in synergy with clofazimine against replicating and nonreplicating M. tuberculosis H37Rv in vitro, as well as in a mouse model of chronic TB.³⁵ As such, PBTZ169 is a promising candidate for novel TB treatment regimes.

Mycins

Throughout history, mycin antibiotics have formed the foundation of treatment for infectious diseases. Largely sourced from *Actinobacteria* spp., mycins are produced as secondary metabolites, which perform many functions in bacteria and fungi, such as competition, transport and chemical signalling. They fall under several broad categories including beta-lactams, tetracylines and aminoglycosides. Since the discovery of streptomycin 70 years ago as the first drug with proven activity against TB,³⁶ several newgeneration mycin compounds have entered the pipeline for TB drug development. **SQ641** is an analogue of capuramycin, a nucleoside antibiotic originally sourced from *Streptococcus griseus*.³⁷ Like capuramycin, SQ641 is a translocase I inhibitor and was developed as a series of capuramycin derivatives and found to display activity against drug-susceptible and drug-resistant strains of *M. tuberculosis*.^{38,39} In a mouse model of chronic *M. tuberculosis* infection, SQ641 was able to reduce bacterial lung burden by 1.0-1.5 log₁₀ CFU.⁴⁰ However, its lipophilicity and low water solubility has led to studies with delivery vehicles⁴¹ as well as further chemical modifications to improve intracellular activity.⁴² A capuramycin analogue, UT-01320, inhibits bacterial RNA polymerases and has been shown to work in synergy with SO641 to inhibit *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv growth to a greater extent than each molecule alone.⁴³ CPZEN-45 is a caprazamycin derivative that inhibits WecA, a transferase involved in arabinogalactan biosynthesis⁴⁴ and has potent activity in vitro against M. tuberculosis H37Rv but limited activity against gram-positive and negative strains such as Staphylococcus aureus, Escherichia coli and Klebsiella pneumoniae.45 CPZEN-45 had no acute cytotoxic effects at concentrations up to 3 mg/ml and cell permeability assays revealed good solubility.⁴⁶ As a lead compound, it is in early-stage development.

Thiolactomycin is an inhibitor of bacterial fatty acid biosynthesis.⁴⁷ Originally isolated from a previously unknown *Nocardia* spp. in 1982, thiolactomycin is a broad-spectrum antibiotic with weak toxicity when tested in mice.^{48,49} Thiolactomycin was evaluated for anti-mycobacterial activity in the search for new TB drugs and found to block mycolic acid synthesis along with fatty acid synthesis through inhibition of FAS-II, but not FAS-I. Thiolactomycin is also active against a clinical isolate of XDR-TB but loses efficacy against *M. tuberculosis* strains with KasA G269S mutations.⁵⁰ As a result of these findings, several derivatives of thiolactomycin have been synthesised and evaluated as lead candidates for TB drug discovery.^{51–53}

Lipiarmycin A3 was originally discovered as a 3:1 mixture of lipiarmycin A3 and lipiarmycin A4 isolated from *Actinoplanes deccanensis*⁵⁴ until structure elucidation studies were completed.^{55,56} Lipiarmycin A3 is a bacterial RNA polymerase inhibitor also known as tiacumicin B and fidaxomicin, a drug approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2011 for treatment of *Clostridium difficile* infection.⁵⁷ To date, rifampicin and lipiarmycin A3 are the only RNA polymerase inhibitors to gain FDA approval

and be used clinically. Lipiarmycin A3 is effective against *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv *in vitro* and has potent activity against clinical isolates of MDR-TB. No cross-resistance with rifampicin is observed for lipiarmycin A3 as the compound binds to a separate region of RNA polymerase.⁵⁸ Issues with developing lipiarmycin A3 as a TB drug involve the compound's physical properties such as a high molecular weight (MW >1000 Da), low solubility in water and low systemic absorption after oral administration.⁵⁹ If these hurdles can be overcome, lipiarmycin A3 has significant potential as the starting point for a drug candidate.

Rifapentine is a derivative of the rifamycin family, which includes rifampicin or rifampin, rifabutin and rifalazil. Rifamycin B was first isolated from *Amycolatopsis rifamycinica*⁶⁰ but was poorly active and thus modified to produce the more effective, but intravenous rifamycin SV. Extensive structure optimisation then led to the synthesis of rifampin.⁶¹ In attempts to improve upon TB treatment regimes, rifampin has been subject to many structureoptimisation studies. In 1965, rifapentine was developed by Sanofiaventis and it was approved by the FDA in 1998. Rifapentine has similar activity to rifampin, but persists in the blood at therapeutic levels for longer (72 h post-antibiotic effect)⁶² and is better able to treat atypical mycobacterial infections such as those arising from the *M. avium* complex.⁶³ Rifapentine also better accumulates in macrophages and thus has more activity against intracellular bacilli.⁶⁴ Currently, high-dose rifapentine in combination with other drugs is undergoing Phase II clinical trials for the treatment of drug-susceptible TB. Results showed that a 6 month regimen that included weekly administration of high-dose rifapentine and moxifloxacin was as effective as the control regimen (2 months daily isoniazid/rifampin/pyrazinamide/ethambutol (HRZE) followed by 4 months daily isoniazid/rifampicin). However, the 4month regimen was not noninferior to the control regimen.⁶⁵

Quinolones

The quinolones are a broad class of compounds, many of which occur naturally in Pseudomonas spp.^{66,67}, Escherichia spp.⁶⁸ and many other bacterial species as cell-signalling molecules.⁶⁹ Nalidixic acid was the first discovered quinolone and was originally derived from quinolone itself, a by-product of quinine distillation.⁷⁰ Four generations of quinolone antibiotics have since been developed, including the fluoroquinolones and diarylquinolones which are of particular interest to TB drug development, especially given that molecules in this class are already used in the clinic as second-line TB drugs. DC-159a is a novel 8-methoxy fluoroquinolone and a preclinical candidate for Phase I clinical trials, scheduled to begin in 2011 but currently on hold.⁷¹ As a broad-spectrum antibacterial, DC-159a exhibits activity against Streptococcus spp., Staphylococcus spp.⁷² and several other clinically relevant bacteria,73 as well as having potent activity against fluoroquinolone-resistant strains of bacteria including M. tuberculosis H37Rv.^{74,75} In a mouse model of *M. tuberculosis* infection, DC-159a was found to be more effective than moxifloxacin at bacterial clearance during initial and extended treatment. This effectiveness was dose-dependent and the early bactericidal activity of DC-159a indicated that it may be a candidate for shortening TB treatment.⁷⁶

Bedaquiline (marketed as Sirturo) is a novel diarylquinolone that is the first new TB drug approved for use in over 40 years. Unlike the fluoroquinolones, bedaquiline is a narrow-spectrum antibiotic and exhibits little activity beyond the mycobacterial species. Bedaquiline targets ATP synthase by inhibiting the proton pumping mechanism⁷⁷ and has bactericidal effects on both active and non-replicating bacilli.⁷⁸ Early clinical trials showed bedaquiline to be safe and effective in increasing sputum culture conversion and reducing the treatment time required for

sputum-negative conversion,^{79,80} which led to the fast track approval of the drug by the FDA for use only in cases of MDR-TB. Bedaquiline has a black-box warning for potential induction of long OT syndrome, which can lead to abnormal and potentially fatal heart rhythm. A Phase II 14-day bactericidal activity study of a bedaquiline/pretomanid/pyrazinamide regimen (BPaZ) in treatment-naive, sputum smear-positive patients with pulmonary TB showed BPaZ to have the highest activity compared to other combinations.⁸¹ A similar treatment combination of bedaquiline/ pretomanid/linezolid is in advanced Phase II clinical trials to assess treatment for MDR-TB and XDR-TB (NiX-TB). Current Phase III trials of bedaquiline in combination therapy include a comparison of a 6 and 9 month bedaquiline-containing regimen against the WHO and Bangladesh regimen (STREAM Stage 2) and an open label RCT of a 6-9 month injection free regimen containing bedaquiline, linezolid, levofloxacin, ethionamide/high dose isoniazid, and pyrazinamide (NeXT).

Moxifloxacin is a repurposed 8-methoxy fluoroquinolone currently undergoing Phase III clinical trials as part of combination therapy. First used as a broad-spectrum antibiotic for the treatment of various respiratory and enteric infections, moxifloxacin exhibits favourable pharmacokinetics⁸² and penetration through human peripheral cavities.⁸³ In the search for new TB treatments amongst novel and existing drugs, moxifloxacin was found to have activity against *M. tuberculosis* in mouse⁸⁴ and human⁸⁵ studies. Early clinical trials showed that replacing isoniazid or ethambutol with moxifloxacin in a standard 4-month HRZE treatment regimen resulted a shorter time to sputumnegative conversion but a lower proportion of favourable outcomes in patients.⁸⁵Nevertheless, the safety of daily oral moxifloxacin over four months was confirmed by this study and the potential for moxifloxacin to reduce treatment time warrants further investigation. Incorporating moxifloxacin into standard treatment regimens with a 4 or 6 month treatment schedule found that the 6-month treatment was as effective as standard treatment but the 4 month treatment did not demonstrate noninferiority to standard treatment.⁶⁵ Investigation continues as to the feasibility of reducing treatment time. An ongoing Phase III trial aims to assess a combination of pretomanid/moxifloxacin/pyrazinamide (PaMZ) for 4 to 6 months in patients with drug-susceptible TB in comparison to standard HRZE treatment. The 14-day early bactericidal activity of PaMZ was comparable with that of HRZE and higher than bedaquiline treatment, bedaquiline/pyrazinamide and bedaquiline/pretomanid, but lower than pretomanid/pyrazinamide.⁸⁶ As an oral regimen which can be administered at a fixed dose, PaMZ has the potential to simplify treatment for drugsusceptible and MDR-TB.

Levofloxacin is another repurposed fluoroquinolone normally used in the treatment of sinusitis, bronchitis and urinary tract infection patients with no alternative treatment options.⁸⁷ Levofloxacin was found to be active against all tested drugresistant strains of M. tuberculosis in vitro and treatment of four patients with a second-line treatment regime which included levofloxacin showed that it was well-tolerated and resulted in clinical improvement.⁸⁸ As such, further investigation as to the rate of major adverse events associated with levofloxacin treatment compared to standard treatment of TB patients was carried out, with results indicating no significant difference between the two groups.⁸⁹ Population pharmacokinetic studies comparing levofloxacin, gatifloxacin and moxifloxacin found levofloxacin to have the highest maximum plasma concentrations, largest volume of distribution, and longest elimination halflife.⁹⁰ A comparison of moxifloxacin and lexifloxacin for the treatment of MDR-TB in patients found no significant difference between sputum culture conversion at 3 months for the two groups.⁹¹

Antimicrobial peptides

Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) are a family of polypeptides produced by living organisms as a host defence mechanism. These are amphipathic molecules, which inhibit the growth of viruses, bacteria, fungi and protozoa.^{92,93} Some AMPs derived from bacteria are potent against *M. tuberculosis* and have been well characterised.⁹⁴ They are still classified within the 'lead optimization' phase of anti-TB drug development, but considering their potential they will be discussed in detail here.

AMPs- Inhibition of cell wall biosynthesis

Teixobactin is a recently discovered AMP, which interferes with bacterial cell wall synthesis.⁹⁵ Ling et al. used iChip to isolate and cultivate previously uncultured soil bacteria and through screening against *Staphylococcus aureus* identified teixobactin produced by *Eleftheria terrae* as a potent antimicrobial, including activity against *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv. The mechanism of action was identified as inhibition of peptidoglycan synthesis, however interestingly teixobactin-resistant strains of *S. aureus* or *M. tuberculosis* could not be generated.⁹⁵ Recently teixobactin has been synthesised with the synthetic natural product displaying inhibitory activity against *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv, although this activity was reduced compared to natural teixobactin.⁹⁶

Sansanmycins are members of the uridylpeptide family, another antibiotic involved in inhibition of cell wall biosynthesis.^{97,98} Uridylpeptide antibiotics have been shown to inhibit translocase I (MraY) involved in peptidoglycan synthesis and the target is predicted to be the same in *M. tuberculosis*.^{97,99} These peptides were isolated from *Streptomyces* sp and sansanmycin A and B were activity against drug susceptible and MDR strains of *M. tuberculosis*.^{98,100} Simple semi-synthetic and biosynthetic modifications to the sansanmycin natural product has resulted in derivatives with greater activity against virulent *M. tuberculosis*, including MDR and XDR strains.¹⁰¹

AMPs-Inhibition of proteolysis

Cyclomarin A is a cyclic peptide from marine Streptomyces CN3-982.¹⁰² It is active against *M. tuberculosis* both in culture and intracellularly.¹⁰³ Its target is caseinolytic protease C1 (ClpC1), which is essential for mycobacterial survival.^{103,104} Total synthesis of Cyclomarin A resulted in derivatives with activity against M. tuberculosis and also against Plasmodium falciparum, highlighting the broad-spectrum activity of certain AMPs.¹⁰⁵ Lassomycin is an AMP produced by the soil bacterium Lentzea kentuckyensis sp. and was discovered through screening of extracts from soil actinomycetes against *M. tuberculosis*, and displays activity against MDR and XDR strains.¹⁰⁶ Generation of a lassomycin resistant strain of *M. tuberculosis* led to the discovery of its target ClpC1.¹⁰⁶ ClpC1 in complex with ClpP1P2 is responsible for protein degradation and maintaining cellular homeostasis.^{107,108} Interestingly, lassomycin increases the ATPase activity of ClpC1, this may result in decoupling of the ATPase and proteolysis activity of ClpC1 and ClpP1P2 complex.¹⁰⁶ Recent attempts at synthesising lassomycin proved to be challenging with loss of activity against M. tuberculosis as a result of incorrect conformation.¹⁰⁹ However, with advances in synthesis, lassomycin's novel mode of action together with high specificity against *M. tuberculosis* may result in drug lead for in vivo studies.

Another cyclic peptide inhibitor of proteolysis in mycobacteria which has advanced to *in vivo* studies in mice is **ecumicin.**¹¹⁰ Ecumicin also targetes ClpC1 and increases the activity of this ATPase similar to lassomycin.¹¹⁰ Ecumicin was discovered by a high throughput screen of *Actinomycete* extracts against *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv and displayed good activity against drug-susceptible, MDR, XDR and non-replicating *M. tuberculosis.*¹¹⁰ When delivered in

polymeric micelle formulation, ecumicin could reduce *M. tuberculosis* bacterial load in the lungs of infected mice.¹¹⁰ Ecumicin however was not as effective as rifampicin *in vivo*, suggesting more work is needed to improve its pharmacokinetics properties.

AMPs- Inhibiting DNA replication pathway

Griselimycin, produced by two strains of Streptomyces, is a cyclic peptide antibiotic discovered in the 1960s. The natural peptide has poor solubility, but more stable analogues of grislimycin, particularly Cyclohexylgriselimycin, are active against intracellular *M. tuberculosis* and drug-resistant strains.¹¹¹ In both an acute and chronic murine model of TB, treatment with cyclohexylgriselimycin significantly reduced bacterial loads compared to untreated mice.¹¹¹ Griselimycin binds to DnaN, which is the sliding clamp of DNA polymerase.¹¹¹ This binding block the interaction of DnaN with DNA polymerase and other elements involved in DNA repair result in killing of mycobacteria.¹¹¹

Other AMPs

Lariatins are a group of novel anti-mycobacterial peptides originally isolated from Rhodococcus jostii K01-B0171. The topology of the lariatins forms a threaded loop resembling a lasso and this structure, along with post-translational modifications prevent protease degradation of these peptides. Lariatin A is the most promising lead currently in early-stage development (M. tuberculosis MIC = 0.39 μ g/mL in vitro).¹¹² A recent mutational study of lariatin A found that amino acids Tyr6, Gly11, and Asn14 were essential for anti-mycobacterial activity, while mutation of Val15, Iso16 and Pro18 enhanced activity.¹¹³ Finally Trichoderins are a new class of aminolipopeptides sourced from the fungal strain Trichoderma sp. 05FI48, isolated from an unidentified marine sponge. They were found to be highly active against *M. smegmatis*, M. bovis and M. tuberculosis in vitro, with trichoderin A being most promising (MIC=0.1, 0.02 and 0.12 μ g/mL respectively).¹¹⁴ One interesting property of the trichoderins is that their potency under hypoxic conditions remains unchanged.¹¹⁴ These peptides appear to work through inhibiting ATP synthesis, although further work needs to be done to confirm this.¹¹⁵ Trichoderins are in early stage development as potential drug leads for TB.

Conclusions

Current control strategies have had little impact on TB control and new therapies are urgently needed. Some strains of M. tuberculosis are resistant to all existing antibiotics used for TB treatment, highlighting the requirement for new drugs with novel modes of action. The high rates of target-based molecule discovery and high-throughput screening using synthetic compound libraries has renewed interest in natural products as a source of diverse bioactive molecules with anti-bacterial activity. As detailed in this review, a number of natural products and 'nature-inspired' molecules show particular promise as anti-mycobacterial agents with clinical potential. While natural products are a rich and underutilised source of novel chemical scaffolds, the process of isolating and purifying active compounds is labour-intensive and time-consuming. Natural product screens rely on bioassay-guided fractionation and require intensive structure-determination, unlike screening of chemical compound libraries, which begins with pure compounds of known structure.¹¹⁶ One other problem lies with intellectual property rights, which are more difficult to enforce and protect when the source of a novel drug grows freely in the environment.¹¹⁷ Despite these issues, natural products remain the most productive source of drug leads to this day, and no doubt will continue to benefit researchers in drug discovery.⁶ The ability to identify anti-bacterial compounds from previously uncultured species of soil bacteria,⁹⁵ metagenomic approaches to explore microbial diversity¹¹⁸ and the successful clinical application of marine natural products provides hope that nature will deliver the required starting points to control the TB epidemic.

Conflict of interest statement

none to declare.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Project Grant (APP1084266 and APP1082533) and the NHMRC Centre of Research Excellence in Tuberculosis Control (APP1043225).

References

- 1. Organization WH. *Global tuberculosis report 2015*. Only available online: wwwwhoint/tb/publications/global_report/.
- 2. Udwadia ZF. MDR, XDR, TDR tuberculosis: ominous progression. *Thorax* 2012;**67**:286–8.
- **3.** Brigden G, Hewison C, Varaine F. New developments in the treatment of drug-resistant tuberculosis: clinical utility of bedaquiline and delamanid. *Infect Drug Resist* 2015;**8**:367–78.
- Payne DJ, Gwynn MN, Holmes DJ, Pompliano DL. Drugs for bad bugs: confronting the challenges of antibacterial discovery. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 2007;6:29–40.
- Sukuru SC, Jenkins JL, Beckwith RE, Scheiber J, Bender A, Mikhailov D, et al. Plate-based diversity selection based on empirical HTS data to enhance the number of hits and their chemical diversity. J Biomol Screen 2009;14:690–9.
- Harvey AL, Edrada-Ebel R, Quinn RJ. The re-emergence of natural products for drug discovery in the genomics era. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2015;14:111–29.
- Laursen JB, Nielsen J. Phenazine natural products: biosynthesis, synthetic analogues, and biological activity. *Chem Rev* 2004;**104**:1663–86.
- Dietrich LE, Okegbe C, Price-Whelan A, Sakhtah H, Hunter RC, Newman DK. Bacterial community morphogenesis is intimately linked to the intracellular redox state. J Bacteriol 2013;195:1371–80.
- Thomashow LS, Weller DM. Role of a phenazine antibiotic from Pseudomonas fluorescens in biological control of *Gaeumannomyces graminis* var. tritici. J Bacteriol 1988;170:3499–508.
- 10. Gurusiddaiah S, Weller DM, Sarkar A, Cook RJ. Characterization of an antibiotic produced by a strain of Pseudomonas fluorescens inhibitory to *Gaeumannomyces graminis* var. tritici and Pythium spp. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1986;29:488–95.
- de Jonge MJ, Kaye S, Verweij J, Brock C, Reade S, Scurr M, et al. Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of XR11576, an oral topoisomerase I and II inhibitor, administered on days 1-5 of a 3-weekly cycle in patients with advanced solid tumours. Br J Cancer 2004;91:1459–65.
- 12. Borrero NV, Bai F, Perez C, Duong BQ, Rocca JR, Jin S, et al. 3rd: Phenazine antibiotic inspired discovery of potent bromophenazine antibacterial agents against *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Staphylococcus epidermidis*. Org Biomol Chem 2014;12:881–6.
- Reddy VM, O'Sullivan JF, Gangadharam PR. Antimycobacterial activities of riminophenazines. J Antimicrob Chemother 1999;43:615–23.
- Zhang D, Lu Y, Liu K, Liu B, Wang J, Zhang G, et al. Identification of less lipophilic riminophenazine derivatives for the treatment of drug-resistant tuberculosis. J Med Chem 2012;55:8409–17.
- 15. O'Connor R, O'Sullivan JF, O'Kennedy R. The pharmacology, metabolism, and chemistry of clofazimine. *Drug Metab Rev* 1995;**27**:591–614.
- Conalty ML. Methods of preclinical evaluation of antituberculosis drugs. In: Barry VC, editor. *Chemotherapy of Tuberculosis*. London, England: Buttersworths; 1964. p. 150–74.
- Caminero JA, Sotgiu G, Zumla A, Migliori GB. Best drug treatment for multidrug-resistant and extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2010;10:621–9.
- Van Deun A, Maug AK, Salim MA, Das PK, Sarker MR, Daru P, et al. Short, highly effective, and inexpensive standardized treatment of multidrugresistant tuberculosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2010;**182**:684–92.
- Tyagi S, Ammerman NC, Li SY, Adamson J, Converse PJ, Swanson RV, et al. Clofazimine shortens the duration of the first-line treatment regimen for experimental chemotherapy of tuberculosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 2015;**112**:869–74.
- Conalty ML, Jackson RD. Uptake by reticulo-endothelial cells of the riminophenazine B.663(2-P-chloroanilino-5-P-chlorophenyl-3: 5-dihydro-3-isopropyliminophenazine). Br J Exp Pathol 1962;43:651–4.
- Venkatesan K, Deo N, Gupta UD. Tissue distribution and deposition of clofazimine in mice following oral administration with or without isoniazid. *Arzneimittelforschung* 2007;57:472–4.
- 22. Lu Y, Zheng M, Wang B, Fu L, Zhao W, Li P, et al. Clofazimine analogs with efficacy against experimental tuberculosis and reduced potential for accumulation. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2011;55:5185–93.

- Li DS L, Liu X, Yang S, Li Y. Bioavailability of TBI-166, a novel antituberculotic, in beagle dogs. JIPR 2015;42:194–8.
- 24. Li DS L, Liu X, Yang S, Li Y. Determination of TBI-166, a Novel Antituberculotic, in Rat Plasma by Liquid Chromatography–Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Chromatographia* 2014;**77**:1697–703.
- Anderson T. Vorlaufiger Bericht uber die Wirkung der Salpetersaure auf organische Alkalien. Ann der Chem and Pharm 1850;75:80–3.
- Cahours A. Recherches sur un nouvel alcali dérivé de la pipérine. Comptes rendus 1852;34:481-4.
- 27. Rimington C. Psilocaulon absimile N. E. Br. as a stock poison. S. Afr. J. Sci. 1934;31:184–93.
- Tripathi RP, Saxena N, Tiwari VK, Verma SS, Chaturvedi V, Manju YK, et al. Synthesis and antitubercular activity of substituted phenylmethyl- and pyridylmethyl amines. *Bioorg Med Chem* 2006;14:8186–96.
- 29. Nefzi A, Appel J, Arutyunyan S, Houghten RA. Parallel synthesis of chiral pentaamines and pyrrolidine containing bis-heterocyclic libraries. Multiple scaffolds with multiple building blocks: a double diversity for the identification of new antitubercular compounds. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 2009;19:5169–75.
- Bogatcheva E, Hanrahan C, Chen P, Gearhart J, Sacksteder K, Einck L, et al. Discovery of dipiperidines as new antitubercular agents. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 2010;20:201–5.
- Bogatcheva E, Hanrahan C, Nikonenko B, de los Santos G, Reddy V, Chen P, et al. Identification of SQ609 as a lead compound from a library of dipiperidines. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 2011;21:5353–7.
- Makarov V, Riabova OB, Yuschenko A, Urlyapova N, Daudova A, Zipfel PF, et al. Synthesis and antileprosy activity of some dialkyldithiocarbamates. J Antimicrob Chemother 2006;57:1134–8.
- 33. Pasca MR, Degiacomi G, Ribeiro AL, Zara F, De Mori P, Heym B, et al. Clinical isolates of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in four European hospitals are uniformly susceptible to benzothiazinones. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2010;54:1616–8.
- Trefzer C, Skovierova H, Buroni S, Bobovska A, Nenci S, Molteni E, et al. Benzothiazinones are suicide inhibitors of mycobacterial decaprenylphosphoryl-beta-D-ribofuranose 2'-oxidase DprE1. J Am Chem Soc 2012;134:912– 5.
- 35. Lechartier B, Cole ST. Mode of Action of Clofazimine and Combination Therapy with Benzothiazinones against Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2015;59:4457–63.
- 36. Daniel TM. The history of tuberculosis. Respir Med 2006;100:1862-70.
- Yamaguchi H, Sato S, Yoshida S, Takada K, Itoh M, Seto H, et al. Capuramycin, a new nucleoside antibiotic. Taxonomy, fermentation, isolation and characterization. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 1986;39:1047–53.
- Reddy VM, Einck L, Nacy CA. In vitro antimycobacterial activities of capuramycin analogues. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2008;52:719–21.
- 39. Koga T, Fukuoka T, Doi N, Harasaki T, Inoue H, Hotoda H, et al. Activity of capuramycin analogues against Mycobacterium tuberculosis, *Mycobacterium avium* and *Mycobacterium intracellulare in vitro* and *in vivo*. J Antimicrob Chemother 2004;54:755–60.
- Nikonenko BV, Reddy VM, Protopopova M, Bogatcheva E, Einck L, Nacy CA. Activity of SQ641, a capuramycin analog, in a murine model of tuberculosis. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2009;53:3138–9.
- Nikonenko B, Reddy VM, Bogatcheva E, Protopopova M, Einck L, Nacy CA. Therapeutic efficacy of SQ641-NE against Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2014;58:587–9.
- Bogatcheva E, Dubuisson T, Protopopova M, Einck L, Nacy CA, Reddy VM. Chemical modification of capuramycins to enhance antibacterial activity. J Antimicrob Chemother 2011;66:578–87.
- 43. Siricilla S, Mitachi K, Wan B, Franzblau SG, Kurosu M. Discovery of a capuramycin analog that kills nonreplicating Mycobacterium tuberculosis and its synergistic effects with translocase I inhibitors. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 2015;68:271–8.
- 44. Ishizaki Y, Hayashi C, Inoue K, Igarashi M, Takahashi Y, Pujari V, et al. Inhibition of the first step in synthesis of the mycobacterial cell wall core, catalyzed by the GlcNAc-1-phosphate transferase WecA, by the novel caprazamycin derivative CPZEN-45. J Biol Chem 2013;288:30309–19.
- 45. Takahashi Y, Igarashi M, Miyake T, Soutome H, Ishikawa K, Komatsuki Y, et al. Novel semisynthetic antibiotics from caprazamycins A-G: caprazene derivatives and their antibacterial activity. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 2013;66: 171–8.
- 46. Salomon JJ, Galeron P, Schulte N, Morow PR, Severynse-Stevens D, Huwer H, et al. Biopharmaceutical in vitro characterization of CPZEN-45, a drug candidate for inhalation therapy of tuberculosis. *Ther Deliv* 2013;4:915–23.
- 47. Hayashi T, Yamamoto O, Sasaki H, Kawaguchi A, Okazaki H. Mechanism of action of the antibiotic thiolactomycin inhibition of fatty acid synthesis of Escherichia coli. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1983;115:1108–13.
- **48.** Oishi H, Noto T, Sasaki H, Suzuki K, Hayashi T, Okazaki H, et al. Thiolactomycin, a new antibiotic. I. Taxonomy of the producing organism, fermentation and biological properties. *J Antibiot (Tokyo)* 1982;**35**:391–5.
- Sasaki H, Oishi H, Hayashi T, Matsuura I, Ando K, Sawada M. Thiolactomycin, a new antibiotic. II. Structure elucidation. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 1982;35:396–400.
- 50. Kremer L, Douglas JD, Baulard AR, Morehouse C, Guy MR, Alland D, et al. Thiolactomycin and related analogues as novel anti-mycobacterial agents targeting KasA and KasB condensing enzymes in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J Biol Chem 2000;275:16857–64.

- Douglas JD, Senior SJ, Morehouse C, Phetsukiri B, Campbell IB, Besra GS, et al. Analogues of thiolactomycin: potential drugs with enhanced anti-mycobacterial activity. *Microbiology* 2002;148:3101–9.
- Senior SJ, Illarionov PA, Gurcha SS, Campbell IB, Schaeffer ML, Minnikin DE, et al. Biphenyl-based analogues of thiolactomycin, active against Mycobacterium tuberculosis mtFabH fatty acid condensing enzyme. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 2003;13:3685–8.
- Senior SJ, Illarionov PA, Gurcha SS, Campbell IB, Schaeffer ML, Minnikin DE, et al. Acetylene-based analogues of thiolactomycin, active against Mycobacterium tuberculosis mtFabH fatty acid condensing enzyme. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 2004;14:373–6.
- Sergio S, Pirali G, White R, Parenti F. Lipiarmycin, a new antibiotic from Actinoplanes III. Mechanism of action. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 1975;28:543–9.
- Martinelli E, Faniuolo L, Tuan G, Gallo GG, Cavalleri B. Structural studies on lipiarmycin. I. Characterization by 1H and 13C NMR spectroscopy and isolation of methyl 2-O-methyl-4-O-homodichloroorsellinate-beta-rhamnoside. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 1983;36:1312–22.
- Arnone AN, Nasini G, Cavalleri B. Structure elucidation of the macrocyclic antibiotic lipiarmycin. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 2016;1:1353–9.
- 57. Bedeschi A, Fonte P, Fronza G, Fuganti C, Serra S. The Co-identity of Lipiarmycin A3 and Tiacumicin B. *Nat Prod Commun* 2016;**11**:569–72.
- 58. Kurabachew M, Lu SH, Krastel P, Schmitt EK, Suresh BL, Goh A, et al. Lipiarmycin targets RNA polymerase and has good activity against multidrug-resistant strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J Antimicrob Chemother 2008;62:713–9.
- Hostler CJ, Chen LF. Fidaxomicin for treatment of clostridium difficileassociated diarrhea and its potential role for prophylaxis. *Expert Opin Pharmacother* 2013;14:1529–36.
- 60. Sensi PM P, Timbal MT. Rifamycin, a new antibiotic. Il Farmaco 1959;14:146-7.
- Wehrli W, Staehelin M. Actions of the rifamycins. Bacteriol Rev 1971;35:290– 309.
- 62. Weiner M, Burman W, Vernon A, Benator D, Peloquin CA, Khan A, et al. Tuberculosis Trials C. Low isoniazid concentrations and outcome of tuberculosis treatment with once-weekly isoniazid and rifapentine. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2003;167:1341–7.
- Klemens SP, Grossi MA, Cynamon MH. Comparative in vivo activities of rifabutin and rifapentine against Mycobacterium avium complex. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1994;38:234–7.
- 64. Mor N, Simon B, Mezo N, Heifets L. Comparison of activities of rifapentine and rifampin against Mycobacterium tuberculosis residing in human macrophages. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1995;39:2073–7.
- Jindani A, Harrison TS, Nunn AJ, Phillips PP, Churchyard GJ, Charalambous S, et al. High-dose rifapentine with moxifloxacin for pulmonary tuberculosis. N Engl J Med 2014;371:1599–608.
- Pesci EC, Milbank JB, Pearson JP, McKnight S, Kende AS, Greenberg EP, et al. Quinolone signaling in the cell-to-cell communication system of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Proc Natl Acad Sci 1999;96:11229–34.
- Diggle SP, Cornelis P, Williams P. C. amara M. 4-quinolone signalling in Pseudomonas aeruginosa: old molecules, new perspectives. Int J Med Microbiol 2006;296:83–91.
- Kwak YG, Jacoby GA, Hooper DC. Induction of plasmid-carried qnrS1 in Escherichia coli by naturally occurring quinolones and quorum-sensing signal molecules. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2013;57:4031–4.
- 69. Vial L, Lepine F, Milot S, Groleau MC, Dekimpe V, Woods DE, et al. Burkholderia pseudomallei B. thailandensis, and B. ambifaria produce 4hydroxy-2-alkylquinoline analogues with a methyl group at the 3 position that is required for quorum-sensing regulation. J Bacteriol 2008;190:5339– 52.
- **70.** Bisacchi GS. Origins of the Quinolone Class of Antibacterials: An Expanded "Discovery Story". *J Med Chem* 2015;**58**:4874-82.
- Disratthakit A, Doi N. In vitro activities of DC-159a, a novel fluoroquinolone, against Mycobacterium species. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2010;54:2684– 6.
- 72. Clark C, Smith K, Ednie L, Bogdanovich T, Dewasse B, McGhee P, et al. In vitro activity of DC-159a, a new broad-spectrum fluoroquinolone, compared with that of other agents against drug-susceptible and -resistant pneumococci. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2008;**52**:77–84.
- Pranger AD, Alffenaar JW, Aarnoutse RE. Fluoroquinolones, the cornerstone of treatment of drug-resistant tuberculosis: a pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic approach. *Curr Pharm Des* 2011;17:2900–30.
- 74. Jones RN, Fritsche TR, Sader HS. Antimicrobial activity of DC-159a, a new fluoroquinolone, against 1,149 recently collected clinical isolates. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2008;52:3763–75.
- Hoshino K, Inoue K, Murakami Y, Kurosaka Y, Namba K, Kashimoto Y, et al. In vitro and in vivo antibacterial activities of DC-159a, a new fluoroquinolone. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2008;52:65–76.
- **76.** Ahmad Z, Minkowski A, Peloquin CA, Williams KN, Mdluli KE, Grosset JH, et al. Activity of the fluoroquinolone DC-159a in the initial and continuation phases of treatment of murine tuberculosis. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2011;**55**:1781–3.
- Andries K, Verhasselt P, Guillemont J, Gohlmann HW, Neefs JM, Winkler H, et al. A diarylquinoline drug active on the ATP synthase of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Science* 2005;**307**:223–7.
- Koul A, Vranckx L, Dendouga N, Balemans W, Van den Wyngaert I, Vergauwen K, et al. Diarylquinolines are bactericidal for dormant mycobac-

teria as a result of disturbed ATP homeostasis. *J Biol Chem* 2008;**283**:25273–80.

- Diacon AH, Pym A, Grobusch M, Patientia R, Rustomjee R, Page-Shipp L, et al. The diarylquinoline TMC207 for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. N Engl J Med 2009;360:2397–405.
- Diacon AH, Donald PR, Pym A, Grobusch M, Patientia RF, Mahanyele R, et al. Randomized pilot trial of eight weeks of bedaquiline (TMC207) treatment for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis: long-term outcome, tolerability, and effect on emergence of drug resistance. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2012;56:3271–6.
- Diacon AH, Dawson R, von Groote-Bidlingmaier F, Symons G, Venter A, Donald PR, et al. Bactericidal activity of pyrazinamide and clofazimine alone and in combinations with pretomanid and bedaquiline. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2015;191:943–53.
- Sullivan JT, Woodruff M, Lettieri J, Agarwal V, Krol GJ, Leese PT, et al. Pharmacokinetics of a once-daily oral dose of moxifloxacin (Bay 12-8039), a new enantiomerically pure 8-methoxy quinolone. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1999;43:2793–7.
- Muller M, Stass H, Brunner M, Moller JG, Lackner E, Eichler HG. Penetration of moxifloxacin into peripheral compartments in humans. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1999;43:2345–9.
- Miyazaki E, Miyazaki M, Chen JM, Chaisson RE, Bishai WR. Moxifloxacin (BAY12-8039), a new 8-methoxyquinolone, is active in a mouse model of tuberculosis. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1999;43:85–9.
- 85. Pletz MW, De Roux A, Roth A, Neumann KH, Mauch H, Lode H. Early bactericidal activity of moxifloxacin in treatment of pulmonary tuberculosis: a prospective, randomized study. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2004;48:780– 2.
- 86. Diacon AH, Dawson R, von Groote-Bidlingmaier F, Symons G, Venter A, Donald PR, et al. 14-day bactericidal activity of PA-824, bedaquiline, pyrazinamide, and moxifloxacin combinations: a randomised trial. *Lancet* 2012;**380**:986–93.
- 87. Mandell LA, Wunderink RG, Anzueto A, Bartlett JG, Campbell GD, Dean NC, et al. Infectious Diseases Society of America/American Thoracic Society consensus guidelines on the management of community-acquired pneumonia in adults. *Clin Infect Dis* 2007;44(Suppl 2):S27–72.
- Richeldi L, Covi M, Ferrara G, Franco F, Vailati P, Meschiari E, et al. Clinical use of Levofloxacin in the long-term treatment of drug resistant tuberculosis. *Monaldi Arch Chest Dis* 2002;57:39–43.
- Marra F, Marra CA, Moadebi S, Shi P, Elwood RK, Stark G, et al. Levofloxacin treatment of active tuberculosis and the risk of adverse events. *Chest* 2005;**128**:1406–13.
- **90.** Peloquin CA, Hadad DJ, Molino LP, Palaci M, Boom WH, Dietze R, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin, gatifloxacin, and moxifloxacin in adults with pulmonary tuberculosis. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2008;**52**:852–7.
- Koh WJ, Lee SH, Kang YA, Lee CH, Choi JC, Lee JH, et al. Comparison of levofloxacin versus moxifloxacin for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2013;**188**:858–64.
- 92. Ageitos JM, Sánchez-Pérez A, Calo-Mata P, Villa TG. Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs): Ancient compounds that represent novel weapons in the fight against bacteria. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 2016.
- Izadpanah A, Gallo RL. Antimicrobial peptides. J Am Acad Dermatol 2005;52:381–90.
- Abedinzadeh M, Gaeini M, Sardari S. Natural antimicrobial peptides against Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J Antimicrob Chemother 2015;70:1285–9.
- Ling LL, Schneider T, Peoples AJ, Spoering AL, Engels I, Conlon BP, et al. A new antibiotic kills pathogens without detectable resistance. *Nature* 2015;517:455–9.
- 96. Giltrap AM, Dowman LJ, Nagalingam G, Ochoa JL, Linington RG, Britton WJ, et al. Total Synthesis of Teixobactin. Organic Letters 2016;18:2788–91.
- 97. Li Y-B, Xie Y-Y, Du N-N, Lu Y, Xu H-Z, Wang B, et al. Synthesis and in vitro antitubercular evaluation of novel sansanmycin derivatives. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2011;21:6804–7.
- Xie Y, Chen R, Si S, Sun C, Xu H. A New Nucleosidyl-peptide Antibiotic, Sansanmycin. J Antibiot 2007;60:158–61.
- Winn M, Goss RJM, Kimura K, Bugg TD. Antimicrobial nucleoside antibiotics targeting cell wall assembly: Recent advances in structure-function studies and nucleoside biosynthesis. *Nat Prod Rep* 2010;27:279–304.
- 100. Xie Y, Xu H, Si S, Sun C, Chen R. Sansanmycins B and C, New Components of Sansanmycins. J Antibiot 2008;61:237–40.
- 101. Shi Y, Jiang Z, Lei X, Zhang N, Cai Q, Li Q, et al. Improving the N-terminal diversity of sansanmycin through mutasynthesis. *Microbial Cell Factories* 2016;15:77.
- 102. Renner MK, Shen Y-C, Cheng X-C, Jensen PR, Frankmoelle W, Kauffman CA, et al. Cyclomarins A-C New Antiinflammatory Cyclic Peptides Produced by a Marine Bacterium (Streptomyces sp.). J Am Chem Soc 1999;121:11273–6.
- 103. Schmitt EK, Riwanto M, Sambandamurthy V, Roggo S, Miault C, Zwingelstein C, et al. The Natural Product Cyclomarin Kills *Mycobacterium Tuberculosis* by Targeting the ClpC1 Subunit of the Caseinolytic Protease. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 2011;50:5889–91.
- Vasudevan D, Rao SPS, Noble CG. Structural Basis of Mycobacterial Inhibition by Cyclomarin A. J Biol Chem 2013;288:30883–91.
- 105. Barbie P, Kazmaier U. Total Synthesis of Cyclomarin A, a Marine Cycloheptapeptide with Anti-Tuberculosis and Anti-Malaria Activity. Organic Letters 2016;18:204–7.

- 106. Gavrish E, Sit CS, Cao S, Kandror O, Spoering A, Peoples A, et al. Lassomycin, a ribosomally synthesized cyclic peptide, kills *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* by targeting the ATP-dependent protease ClpC1P1P2. *Chem Biol* 2014;21:509–18.
- 107. Lee H, Suh J-W. Anti-tuberculosis lead molecules from natural products targeting Mycobacterium tuberculosis ClpC1. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 2016;43:205–12.
- 108. Parish T. Targeting Mycobacterial Proteolytic Complexes with Natural Products. Chem Biol 2014;21:437–8.
- 109. Lear S, Munshi T, Hudson AS, Hatton C, Clardy J, Mosely JA, et al. Total chemical synthesis of lassomycin and lassomycin-amide. Org Biomol Chem 2016;14:4534–41.
- 110. Gao W, Kim J-Y, Chen S-N, Cho S-H, Choi J, Jaki BU, et al. Discovery and Characterization of the Tuberculosis Drug Lead Ecumicin. Organic Letters 2014;16:6044–7.
- 111. Kling A, Lukat P, Almeida DV, Bauer A, Fontaine E, Sordello S, et al. Targeting DnaN for tuberculosis therapy using novel griselimycins. *Science* 2015;**348**:1106–12.
- 112. Iwatsuki M, Uchida R, Takakusagi Y, Matsumoto A, Jiang C-L, Takahashi Y, et al. Lariatins, Novel Anti-mycobacterial Peptides with a Lasso Structure, Produced by *Rhodococcus jostii* K01-B0171. J Antibiot 2007;60:357–63.

- 113. Inokoshi J, Koyama N, Miyake M, Shimizu Y, Tomodaa H. Structure-Activity Analysis of Gram-positive Bacterium-producing Lasso Peptides withAntimycobacterial Activity. Sci Rep 2016;6:30375.
- 114. Pruksakorn P, Arai M, Kotoku N, Vilchèze C, Baughn AD, Moodley P, et al. Trichoderins, novel aminolipopeptides from a marine sponge-derived *Trichoderma* sp., are active against dormant mycobacteria. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 2010;**20**:3658–63.
- Pruksakorn P, Arai M, Liu L, Moodley P, Jacobs Jr. WRJr., Kobayashi M. Actionmechanism of trichoderin A, an anti-dormant mycobacterial aminolipopeptide from marine sponge-derived *Trichoderma* sp. *Biol Pharm Bull* 2011;34:1287–90.
- Harvey AL. Natural products in drug discovery. Drug Discov Today 2008;13:894–901.
- 117. Kartal M. Intellectual property protection in the natural product drug discovery, traditional herbal medicine and herbal medicinal products. *Phytother Res.* 2007;**21**:113–9.
- Akondi KB, Lakshmi VV. Emerging trends in genomic approaches for microbial bioprospecting. OMICS 2013;17:61–70.